**RECEIVED**

**Nov 24 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'  
COMPENSATION APPELLANT PANEL

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000852

---

Sharonda Love, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., Employer,  
and American Casualty Co. Reading, Pennsylvania, Carrier.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

David V. Benson, Esquire  
Elrod Pope Law Firm  
P.O. Box 11091  
Rock Hill, SC 29731  
(803) 324-7574  
[dbenson@elrodpope.com](mailto:dbenson@elrodpope.com)  
Attorney for Appellant

Nicholas L. Haigler, Esquire  
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE APPELLANT PANEL OF SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING OF FACT 7 WHEN IT FOUND ETHOS WAS NOT AN INSURANCE CARRIER?
  
- II. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMMISSION ERR IN INDING THAT SHARONDS LOVE WAS NOT ENTITLED TO LIFETIME MEDICAL BENEFITS?
  
- III. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN NOT APPLYING S.C. CODE SECTION 42-15-60 (B)(3)(A)?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Claimant/Appellant Sharonda Love injured her back on April 21, 2006, and her claim was resolved by consent order dated May 16, 2013. The order provided for lifetime medical treatment for Sharonda's injury and provided the avenue for defendants to be relieved of providing lifetime medical by providing an MSA. Defendants did not avail themselves of this option and provided medical treatment for Sharonda until this action was instituted. By order, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission denied Ms. Love's right to lifetime medical.

## FACTS

Ms. Love sustained a work-related back injury on April 21, 2006. (R. p. 02). The claim was accepted, and Ms. Love received workers' compensation benefits, including medical treatment for her lower back. (R. p. 89). After she was determined to be at maximum medical improvement (MMI), the parties resolved the claim by consent order in May 2013. (R. pp. 89–91). The consent order provided that Defendants would pay Ms. Love \$34,352.94 in permanent disability benefits and would provide her with continued medical treatment for her back pursuant to § 42-15-60, while reserving the “right to establish a Medicare Set Aside Trust (MSA) to resolve lifetime causally related medical care, contingent upon approval by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services...” (R. p. 90, paras. 2–3). Ms. Love has not returned to gainful employment since her 2006 work injury, other than volunteering two days per week for approximately five hours at a local pregnancy center.

For approximately nine years after the parties entered the consent order, Respondents provided Ms. Love with ongoing medical treatment for her back. Although the agreement initially specified that Respondents would authorize payment only for treatment recommended by Dr. Coric, Respondents also authorized other medical providers to treat Ms. Love's back, including Dr. Sumich, Dr. Coric's partner, and Dynamic Health Medical Group. (R. pp. 22–24; 27–56; 99–100; p. 126; pp. 134–135). Ms. Love's last authorized medical visit was with Dynamic Health on October 14, 2022, which the medical note identifies as visit 27 of 27. (R. pp. 99–100; p. 126; 134–135).

Ms. Love testified that in June or July 2023, she attempted to schedule a follow-up appointment with Dynamic Health, but Dynamic Health refused to see her because there were outstanding balances for prior treatment that the workers' compensation insurance carrier had not

paid. (R. p. 142 lines 10–20; 143 lines 1–7). She further testified that in 2022 and June/July 2023, she called the adjuster directly to request additional treatment, but the adjuster did not answer or return her calls. (R. p. 142 lines 4–25; R. p. 143 lines 1–16). No evidence in the record contradicts this testimony.

Unable to obtain treatment from Dynamic Health due to the unpaid balances and unable to reach the adjuster, Ms. Love sought treatment on her own at Express Health & Spine. (R. p. 143–144; 148; 153). She provided Express Health & Spine with her workers' compensation claim information for billing purposes. (R. p. 143 lines 8–25). Initially, she was not billed or required to pay upfront for treatment at Express Health & Spine and believed Respondents had authorized payment for that treatment. She later learned that Respondents had not authorized this treatment and contacted her attorney to seek enforcement of the 2013 consent order.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from an appellate panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission, this court can reverse or modify the decision if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record. The **Claimant** has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the Workers' Compensation law; such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation. In a Workers' Compensation case, the appellate panel is the ultimate fact-finder. Workers' Compensation law is to be liberally construed in favor of coverage in order to serve the beneficent purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act; only exceptions [Nicholson v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Serv., 411 S.C. 381, 759 S.E. 2d 1 (SC 2015)] and restrictions on coverage are to be strictly construed.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. DID THE HEARING COMMISSIONER ERR IN FINDING OF FACT 7 WHEN SHE FOUND THAT ETHOS WAS NOT AN INSURANCE CARRIER? (QUESTIONS PRESENTED 1 & 4)**

Sharonda Love testified she left messages for the insurance adjuster and corresponded with EthosRisk (R. p. 139, Line 21-24), and the commissioner found as a fact that EthosRisk was not the insurance carrier or an agent of the carrier. She did not reference any testimony or documentation other than Ms. Love's testimony. Sharonda did present emails as proof of her position about correspondence with defendants (R. p. 107-113). The hearing commissioner found as a fact that EthosRisk was not an agent of the defendants without a shred of testimony or documentation that contradicted Sharonda's testimony. The hearing commissioner did not find that Sharonda was not credible or believable, yet she ignored her testimony.

That Sharonda needs medical treatment is not contested. That Sharonda Love has a work-related injury is not contested. That Sharonda Love has retained hardware in her back is also not contested. The purpose of the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Commission is to protect injured workers like Sharonda. The hearing commissioner did not protect Sharonda and did not reference any evidence to support her decision.

Sharonda submitted emails and a copy of a voice mail that support her testimony about speaking to the adjuster personally and about a man who came and left a card requesting she call. Sharonda got hurt at work and still needs medical treatment. We are not arguing about compensability; we are arguing about what is right, and we are arguing about the purpose of the Act to help injured workers. How are the purposes of the Act furthered by denying this woman treatment who had been treating for sixteen years? Clearly, they are not. Sharonda

got hurt and doesn't get treatment in contravention of the purposes of the Workers' Compensation Act.

**II. DID THE HEARING COMMISSIONER ERR IN FINDING THAT SHARONA WAS NOT ENTITLED TO LIFETIME MEDICAL BENEFITS? (QUESTIONS PRESENTED 2, 3, 5, 6, & 7)**

The original of the single Commissioner dated November 13, 2024, in the third paragraph states, "The parties reserve the right to establish a Medicare Set-Aside Trust (MSA) to resolve lifetime causally related medical care...." (R. p. 102). The order clearly establishes the method for defendants to shed lifetime medical benefits by establishing an MSA which defendants never did. Defendants had the ability at any time to obtain an MSA but did not do so. It continued providing medical treatment for Sharonda for sixteen years without interruption. Were there other periods Sharonda went without treatment for over one year? The record is silent. Like clockwork, defendants provided medical treatment for Sharonda and never once mentioned an MSA.

The Commission ignored this provision of the original order. The Appellate Panel did state Sharonda could have done differently (R. p. 12). The hearing commissioner did ignore Sharonda's testimony and the Supplemental APA submissions.

When an order details instructions about lifetime medical treatment, the order must be followed. It was not followed, and this court cannot condone ripping away lifetime medical benefits in the face of this sixteen-year-old unappealed order. Lifetime medical does not mean sixteen years of medical, it means what it says, lifetime medical care. By denying Sharonda treatment, this commission will be condoning delay and deny tactics of this insurance carrier. Sharonda called and called, (R. p. 144, Line 13-23).

For the defendants, sent someone to her home, verified by the voicemail (R. p. 111). Defendants even verified in an email the procedure: Sharonda may call the adjuster directly, cutting out the lawyers (R. p. 107-110). Denying treatment for Sharonda Love is unequitable and plain and simply wrong.

### **III. DID THE HEARING COMMISSIONER ERR IN NOT APPLYING SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 42-15-60(B)(3)(A)?**

This code section allows a carrier to suspend medical treatment after one year unless the “commission order provides otherwise.” The order, as above stated, set out exactly how Sharonda’s bargained-for lifetime medical benefits could be suspended by providing an MSA. Clearly, a Medicare Set Aside Trust was never offered, but continued medical treatment was. From the defendant’s email allowing direct contact between Sharonda and the insurance company, continuing medical treatment was clearly contemplated (R. p. 107-110). The order provides otherwise, and the hearing commissioner was not free to ignore it.

**CONCLUSION**

This case cries out for reversal, and Sharonda Love requests that this court reverse the Appellate Panel's order and reinstate her lifetime medical.

**RECEIVED**  
**Nov 24 2025**  
**SC Court of Appeals**