RECEIVED

Aug 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

**APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION**

WCC File No. 0606817

Court of Appeals Case No. 2025-000852

Sharonda Love, ClaimantAppellant,

v.

Fresenius Medical Care Holding, Employer,
and American Casualty Co. of Reading, Pennsylvania, Carrier Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Nicolas L. Haigler, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 76684
Michael D. Crump, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 105737
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
2151 Pickens Street, Suite 500
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 929-1400

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Full Commission properly affirmed the Hearing Commissioner's Finding of Fact #7 that EthosRisk was not the Appellant's Insurance Carrier.
2. Whether the Full Commission properly affirmed the Hearing Commissioner's finding that Appellant is not entitled to lifetime medical benefits.
3. Whether the Full Commission properly applied S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-15-60(B)(3)(A).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a workers' compensation appeal by Sharonda Love ("Appellant") from the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel (the "Full Commission"), filed on April 7, 2025, which unanimously upheld the Decision and Order of the Hearing Commissioner, Commissioner Aisha Taylor, entered November 11, 2024.

This claim arises out of an admitted accident that occurred on April 21, 2006, and resulted in an injury to the Appellant's back. Appellant contends she is entitled to lifetime medical treatment pursuant to a Consent Order of Settlement dated May 17, 2013 (the "Consent Order"). At the Hearing before the Hearing Commissioner, Respondents took the position that the Consent Order did not contemplate the provision of lifetime medical benefits because it specifically states that Respondents would provide "continued causally related medical treatment" pursuant to Section 42-15-60. Further, Respondents contend the Appellant's last authorized medical visit occurred on October 14, 2022, and Respondents did not withhold medical treatment from that date onward pursuant to the above-referenced statute.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The authorized treating physician, Dr. Michael A. Cowan, provided the opinion that the Appellant reached Maximum Medical Improvement ("MMI") as of November 13, 2007, with 10% impairment of her back. (Def. Ex. A, p. 1). The parties then reached a settlement agreement which was memorialized and approved in a Consent Order dated May 17, 2013. (Def. Ex. A, pp. 1-3). That agreement stated the following, in relevant part:

1. "A lump sum payment in the amount of \$34,352.94, resolving all future possible indemnity liability; and

2. Continued causally related medical treatment for the back only as recommended by Dr. Domagoj Coric, pursuant to Section 42-15-60 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.”

(Id.).

Appellant continued regularly scheduled authorized care thereafter. She attended visits at Dynamic Health Medical Group between January 11, 2021, and September 10, 2021. (Appellant APA pp. 11-42). On October 14, 2022, she reported 4 out of 10 pain level with constant aching in her low back. She then returned on October 14, 2022, reporting a pain level of 4 out of 10 in her lower back, and received an SI injection. (Def. APA pp. 1-2). This was her last authorized visit.

Appellant then underwent unauthorized treatment with Expressed Health Spine and Wellness Center, LLC. Her first visit was on July 19, 2023, where she was diagnosed with cervicalgia and lumbago after she reported 9 out of 10 pain in her back. (Appellant APA, pp. 44-46). She continued to treat with Expressed Health through March 25, 2024, and was recommended to continue with therapeutic exercise. (Appellant APA, pp. 65-66). Again, none of this treatment was known or authorized by the Respondents.

On March 28, 2023, Christina Futrell from EthosRisk contacted Appellant’s counsel asking to “conduct an alive and well check” on the Appellant. (Appellant Ex. 1, p. 71). Then, in December of 2023, counsel for the respective parties exchanged emails where it was communicated that Appellant could contact the adjuster herself. (Appellant Ex. 2, pp. 73-74). The Appellant also received a voicemail stating that “Christina...on behalf of CNA,” was reaching out for a “virtual alive and well check.” (Appellant Ex. 4, p. 78).

During the Hearing, Appellant testified that in June or July of 2023, she had a conversation with an “adjuster for Fresenius.” (Hearing Transcript at p. 10). After her treatments stopped, she said she continued to attempt to contact someone about her treatment, even calling an adjuster in

2022 and 2023 to remedy the situation. (*Id.* at pp. 11-12). She said she left a message and tried several times to get through, but no one ever answered her call. (*Id.* at pp. 13, 15). Despite this, she said she did not have anything in writing that showed there had been any denial of renewal of her treatment with Dynamic. (*Id.* at p. 26).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA) gives judicial review of decisions by the Commission.” *Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC*, 415 S.C. 617, 622, 785 S.E.2d 194, 197 (2016). “An appellate court's review is limited to the determination of whether or not the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* “In workers' compensation cases, the Commission is the ultimate fact finder.” *Id.*

“Although it is logical for the Full Commission, which did not have the benefit of observing the witnesses, to give weight to the Hearing Commissioner's opinion, the Full Commission is empowered to make its own findings of fact and to reach its own conclusions of law consistent or inconsistent with those of the Hearing Commissioner.” *Muir v. CR Bard, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 266, 282, 519 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999). “The findings of the Commission are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* Appellate courts must affirm the Commission's factual findings if they are supported by the evidence. *Holmes v. Nat'l Serv. Indus., Inc.*, 395 S.C. 305, 308, 717 S.E.2d 751, 752 (2011).

“A court may not substitute its judgment for that of an agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact unless the agency's findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.” *Muir*, 336 S.C. at 282, 519 S.E.2d at 591. “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the

agency reached.” *Id.* “[T]he substantial evidence test ‘need not and must not be either judicial fact-finding or a substitution of judicial judgment for agency judgment;’ and a judgment upon which reasonable men might differ will not be set aside.” *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981).

ARGUMENT

I. THE FULL COMMISSION PROPERLY UPHELD THE HEARING COMMISSIONER’S FINDING THAT ETHOSRISK WAS NEITHER THE CARRIER NOR THE EMPLOYER.

Appellant challenges the Hearing Commissioner’s Finding of Fact No. 7, which held that EthosRisk was neither the workers’ compensation carrier nor the employer for Appellant’s 2006 injury. (CITE). Appellant’s argument is difficult to follow, but appears to rest on three assertions: (1) Appellant testified that she corresponded with an EthosRisk representative during the year in which Respondents allege she failed to pursue treatment, (2) Appellant submitted supplemental exhibits allegedly supporting this testimony, and (3) despite this testimony and documentation, and without specific rebuttal evidence from Respondents, the Hearing Commissioner nevertheless found that EthosRisk was neither Appellant’s carrier nor her employer. This argument lacks merit.

It is well established that “the Commission is the ultimate fact finder” in workers’ compensation cases, and its findings “must be affirmed if they are supported by substantial evidence.” *Holmes v. Nat’l Serv. Indus.*, 395 S.C. 305, 308, 717 S.E.2d 751, 752 (2011); see also *Jordan v. Kelly Co.*, 381 S.C. 483, 674 S.E.2d 166 (2009); *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010). Substantial evidence is evidence which, when viewed as a whole, “would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the agency reached.” *Id.* This standard does not permit substitution of judicial judgment

for agency judgment; a finding “upon which reasonable men might differ will not be set aside.” *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981).

Here, substantial evidence supports the Hearing Commissioner’s finding. Appellant herself admitted she was employed by Fresenius—not EthosRisk—at the time of her 2006 injury. (Hearing Commissioner HT, pg. 10, lns. 10-18). She presented no testimony or documentation establishing that EthosRisk was her workers’ compensation carrier. The entirety of Appellant’s evidence regarding EthosRisk consists of: (a) testimony that an unidentified male left a business card at her home regarding an “alive and well” check (Hearing Commissioner HT, p. 11, ln 25 – p. 12, ln 7; Hearing Commissioner HT, p. 28, ln 14 – p. 29, ln 25); (b) testimony that Christina Futrell of EthosRisk left her a voicemail stating she was calling “on behalf of CNA” to schedule a virtual “alive and well” check (*Id.*; Appellant’s Supplemental APAs, p. 78); and (c) an email from Futrell to Appellant’s counsel advising that EthosRisk, “on behalf of CNA,” needed to conduct such a check. (Appellant’s Supplemental APAs, p. 71). None of this evidence establishes that EthosRisk was either Appellant’s employer or her carrier. To the contrary, it shows that EthosRisk acted as a third-party vendor engaged by the actual carrier, CNA, to perform administrative tasks such as an “alive and well” check.

While Appellant testified that the unidentified male suggested he was with the carrier, she produced no corroborating evidence. By contrast, Futrell’s email clearly originated from an EthosRisk address and expressly stated that she was acting “on behalf of CNA.” Thus, the record contains substantial evidence to support the Commissioner’s conclusion that EthosRisk was neither the carrier nor the employer.

II. THE FULL COMMISSION PROPERLY UPHELD THE HEARING COMMISSIONER'S DECISION THAT THE CONSENT ORDER DID NOT PROVIDE LIFETIME MEDICAL TREATMENT.

“In South Carolina jurisprudence, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts,” and it is the “court’s duty to enforce the contract...regardless of its wisdom or folly.” *Nichols Holding, LLC v. Divine Capital Grp.*, 416 S.C. 327, 335, 785 S.E.2d 613, 615 (Ct. App. 2016). When the “language is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument’s force and effect.” *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 577, 762 S.E.2d 696, 700 (2014) (quoting *Jordan v. Sec. Grp., Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 230, 428 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1993)).

Here, the Consent Order of Settlement clearly and unequivocally states the “parties agree that pursuant to Section 42-15-60 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the claimant is entitled to continued causally related medical treatment for her back only as recommended by Dr. Coric.” (See Def. Exhibit A) (emphasis added). There is nothing ambiguous or unclear about this term of the agreement. It specifically lays out the scope and limitations of the agreement for treatment. Specifically, it limits the continued treatment to within the bounds of § 42-15-60, and then even further by the treatment only as recommended by Dr. Coric. It does not provide for unfettered treatment, or treatment from unauthorized providers. Indeed, the clause in question is unambiguous as to what treatment is contemplated.

Moreover, the Consent Order does not state anywhere therein that the Appellant is entitled to lifetime medical care pursuant to Section 42-15-60(3), which provides for lifetime medical treatment regardless of any lapses because of a finding of permanent and total disability. This is consistent with the indemnity portion of the settlement, which was clearly not an agreement of permanent and total disability. The fact the Appellant treated consistently for more than 10 years

does not establish an entitlement to lifetime benefits. The Act still requires she comply with (B)(1-3) of Section 42-15-60 to avoid losing her right to continued treatment. As mentioned above, the clause does not provide for any medical treatment, but instead treatment recommended by Dr. Coric pursuant to § 42-15-60, which provides the one-year requirement of continued treatment. Considering South Carolina's jurisprudence, the Consent Order's language itself is controlling, and it should be given the force of law. It is this Court's duty to enforce the plain language of the agreement, which is that the Appellant is only entitled to lifetime medical treatment as recommended by Dr. Coric that does not lapse beyond the one-year requirement per § 42-15-60. It is further the Court's duty to uphold the decision of the Full Commission, which found for the Respondents based on sufficient evidence, as detailed throughout this brief.

In sum, the Consent Order states she is entitled to medical care pursuant to § 42-15-60 and does not contemplate irrevocable lifetime medical treatment. Therefore, the Full Commission's unanimous decision affirming Commissioner Taylor's ruling that the Consent Order does not provide for lifetime medical care, and § 42-15-60(B) applies, should be upheld.

III. THE FULL COMMISSION PROPERLY UPHELD THE HEARING COMMISSIONER'S DECISION THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT MEET HER BURDEN OF PROOF DEMONSTRATING REASONABLE ATTEMPTS TO OBTAIN AUTHORIZED MEDICAL TREATMENT.

Under § 42-15-60(B)(3), Respondents are not required to provide "medical treatment or modalities" where there is a lapse of treatment for more than one year, unless: "(a) the settlement agreement...provides otherwise; or, (b) the employee has made reasonable attempts to obtain further treatment or modality from an authorized physician, but through no fault of the employee's own, is unable to obtain such treatment or modalities." The first exception has already been addressed in Section II above. The Appellant also fails on the second exception because she did

not meet her burden of proof in showing she was unable to obtain authorized treatment through no fault of her own.

While it is true she did obtain medical treatment, the treatment was not authorized as is required by the Act to meet the exception. Further, there is no evidence she made a reasonable effort to communicate with her employer or the insurance carrier regarding seeking additional treatment in the year following her final authorized appointment on October 14, 2022. The Hearing Commissioner properly held that EthosRisk was not the insurance carrier, nor was it the employer. Instead, it was a third-party service performing “well-checks,” as was explained in the communications themselves. This is not speculation on the part of the Hearing Commissioner, nor the Full Commission. Instead, it was a finding based on the substantial evidence as outlined in Section I above.

Despite Appellant’s testimony that she requested additional treatment within the necessary timeframe, none of those alleged conversations on the record reflect a request for treatment and instead are solely focused on the well-check. This fact is not in dispute. In fact, the record reflects that Respondents’ counsel informed Appellant’s counsel that Appellant could contact the adjuster directly to schedule additional medical treatment within the one-year time frame. However, there is no evidence she ever did so. Instead, the Appellant sought unauthorized medical treatment, which is not considered under the Act as a reasonable attempt required to continue treatment authorized by Respondents. In fact, it is contrary to a reasonable attempt to secure authorized treatment from the carrier. Therefore, there is not sufficient evidence on the record to support a finding that she made reasonable attempts, making the Hearing Commissioner and Full Commission’s decision correct.

Through her own inaction, Appellant failed to comply with the Act and allowed the one-year window to lapse before bringing the claim, filed on March 15, 2024, with her last authorized treatment taking place on October 14, 2022 – well beyond the time laid out in the Act. There is substantial evidence to support the Hearing Commissioner’s initial decision, and the unanimous decision of the Full Commission. While Appellant may argue that she did make some attempts to obtain additional treatment, the fact that some evidence may support that idea, despite Respondents’ position it does not, that alone is insufficient for this Court to substitute its judgment for the Full Commission. Because substantial evidence exists to support the finding that Appellant did not make reasonable efforts to obtain further medical treatment within the one-year window provided by the statute, the Full Commission’s decision should be affirmed.